Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: April 24, 2015 ACCEPTED: May 2, 2015 PUBLISHED: June 8, 2015

On classical Yang-Baxter based deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring

Stijn J. van Tongeren

Institut für Mathematik und Institut für Physik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, IRIS Gebäude, Zum Grossen Windkanal 6, 12489 Berlin, Germany

E-mail: svantongeren@physik.hu-berlin.de

ABSTRACT: Interesting deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ such as the gravity dual of noncommutative SYM and Schödinger spacetimes have recently been shown to be integrable. We clarify questions regarding the reality and integrability properties of the associated construction based on R matrices that solve the classical Yang-Baxter equation, and present an overview of manifestly real R matrices associated to the various deformations. We also discuss when these R matrices should correspond to TsT transformations, which not all do, and briefly analyze the symmetries preserved by these deformations, for example finding Schrödinger superalgebras that were previously obtained as subalgebras of psu(2, 2|4). Our results contain a (singular) generalization of an apparently non-TsT deformation of $AdS_5 \times S^5$, whose status as a string background is an interesting open question.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Integrable Field Theories, Gauge-gravity correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1504.05516



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Real CYBE deformations of ${ m AdS}_5 imes { m S}^5$	4
	2.1 $\mathfrak{su}(2,2 4)$ R matrices	5
3	R matrices and (null) TsT transformations	6
	3.1 Null TsT transformations	6
	3.2 Non TsT R matrices?	7
4	(Super)symmetry analysis	8
	4.1 Lunin-Maldacena, noncommutative SYM, and dipole theories	8
	4.2 Schödinger spacetimes	9
	4.3 Generalized scaling spacetimes	10
5	Conclusions	10
A	Algebra conventions	11
в	A different basis	12
\mathbf{C}	An example R matrix	13

1 Introduction

Integrability of the string sigma model on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ has provided important insight into the AdS/CFT correspondence [1]. Given the power of the associated techniques [2, 3], considerable effort has been spent on extending them beyond this maximally symmetric example, by deforming the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring while preserving its integrability [4]. One important class of such deformations are strings on the Lunin-Maldacena background [5] which were generalized and shown to be integrable in [6], see also [7].¹ More recently, a manifestly integrable deformation of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring was constructed in [9], resulting in a quantum deformation of the superconformal symmetry of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [10].² The metric and B field of this model were found in [13], a spacetime with very interesting properties [10, 13–18], but its interpretation in terms of string theory and AdS/CFT remains elusive.³ The construction of [9] is based on a solution of the so-called modified classical Yang-Baxter equation which essentially has a unique solution [10]. However, shortly afterwards it was

¹See [8] for a review of the spectral problem in this setting.

²These papers generalize earlier work by Klimčík [11, 12].

³In the $AdS_2 \times S^2$ and $AdS_3 \times S^3$ cases some progress has been made on the supergravity front [19].

realized [20] that this construction can be conveniently adapted to yield integrable deformations based on the classical Yang Baxter equation (CYBE), which has a large space of solutions. Moreover, many of these solutions have a nice interpretation in terms of string theory and AdS/CFT, including cases such as the Lunin-Maldacena background [21], the gravity dual of noncommutative supersymmetry Yang-Mills theory (SYM) [22], as well as for example certain Schrödinger spacetimes [23], which were hereby shown to be integrable. However, various confusing statements regarding the reality and integrability properties of these classical Yang-Baxter based deformations, as well as open questions regarding their symmetries and their relation to gravity have arisen in the literature [20–26], which we would like to clarify and expand upon in this short paper.

To go into some detail, the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring action can be represented as a coset sigma model on $PSU(2, 2|4)/(SO(4, 1) \times SO(5))$ as $[27]^4$

$$S = -\frac{T}{2} \int d\tau d\sigma \frac{1}{2} (\sqrt{h} h^{\alpha\beta} - \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}) \mathrm{sTr}(A_{\alpha} dA_{\beta}).$$
(1.1)

Integrability of this model was established in [4]. By adapting the arguments of [9], in [20] it was argued that deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring action of the form

$$S = -\frac{T}{2} \int d\tau d\sigma \frac{1}{2} (\sqrt{h} h^{\alpha\beta} - \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}) \mathrm{sTr}(A_{\alpha} dJ_{\beta})$$
(1.2)

where $J = (1 - R_g \circ d)^{-1}(A)$ with $R_g(X) = g^{-1}R(gXg^{-1})g$, are also integrable sigma models, provided R is antisymmetric,

$$\operatorname{sTr}(R(m)n) = -\operatorname{sTr}(mR(n)), \tag{1.3}$$

and satisfies the classical Yang-Baxter equation (CYBE)⁵

$$[R(m), R(n)] - R([R(m), n] + [m, R(n)]) = 0.$$
(1.4)

Here R is a linear map from a given Lie (super-)algebra \mathfrak{g} to itself, which can be conveniently represented as

$$R(m) = r_{ij}t_i \operatorname{sTr}(t_j m) = \operatorname{sTr}_2(r(1 \otimes m))$$
(1.5)

for some anti-symmetric matrix r_{ij} , where $r = r_{ij}t_i \wedge t_j = \frac{1}{2}r_{ij}(t_i \otimes t_j - t_j \otimes t_i)$, and the t_i are the generators of \mathfrak{g} . In [20] and subsequent works [22–25], this algebra is generically taken to be $\mathfrak{gl}(4|4)$, despite the fact that the parent construction [9] suggests $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$. Indeed, it is clear that if we want the deformed action to be real we have to restrict ourselves to $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$.⁶ Also, upon examination it is clear that the Lax representation of the equations

⁴Here *h* is the world sheet metric, $\epsilon^{\tau\sigma} = 1$, $A_{\alpha} = g^{-1}\partial_{\alpha}g$ with $g \in \text{PSU}(2,2|4)$, sTr denotes the supertrace, and $d = P_1 + 2P_2 - P_3$ where the P_i are the projectors onto the *i*th \mathbb{Z}_4 graded components of the semi-symmetric space $\text{PSU}(2,2|4)/(\text{SO}(4,1) \times \text{SO}(5))$ (super $\text{AdS}_5 \times \text{S}^5$).

⁵The trivial solution R = 0 gives the undeformed action.

⁶Since $A \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$, the action will be real only when J satisfies the same reality condition, hence $J \in \mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$, and we see that R must preserve this real form.

of motion given in [9, 20], requires a further restriction to $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$.⁷ Nevertheless, using what appear to be and are referred to as $\mathfrak{sl}(4|4)$ R matrices⁸ several interesting deformations of the AdS₅ × S⁵ string action have been constructed that are real, at least at the bosonic level. Furthermore, in [25] a deformation based on a $\mathfrak{gl}(4|4)$ R matrix was stated to be integrable, the status of which, given our statements above, requires further investigation. We would like to clarify the situation by showing that *all* real deformations previously considered in this setting, are, or can be, obtained from $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ R matrices, thereby manifesting the reality of and the existence of Lax pairs for these models. In particular, we give an $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ rather than $\mathfrak{gl}(4|4)$ R matrix for the new type of deformation considered in [24, 25].

Most of the deformations considered in this setting, such as the gravity duals of noncommutative SYM and dipole theories, as well as certain Schrödinger geometries, are based on commuting symmetry generators, at least heuristically explaining their relation to (null) TsT transformations. The R matrix for the deformation of [24, 25] is not of this type however, which means it should not be possible to obtain it by TsT transformations alone. Given this interesting status, we generalize the associated R matrix, resulting in a singular deformation of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. We have not verified that this background is a solution of supergravity in general. In one particular case however, this background can be obtained as a TsT transformation in the variables dual to a Schödinger dilation and a perpendicular null translation, indicating that singularities do not distinguish between TsT and non-TsT R matrices, rather that the lack of commutativity of the building blocks of an R matrix does.

We also give a simple description of the symmetries of the deformed theories, in the case of Schrödinger spacetimes finding the six and twelve supercharge superalgebras of [28],⁹ up to some subtleties that we explain. For a particular subclass of the deformed backgrounds of [24, 25], we find a superalgebra with sixteen supercharges. Our generalization of this deformation generically preserves no supersymmetry, but precisely in the case where it corresponds to a TsT transformation, preserves eight supercharges.

In the next section we present an overview of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ R matrices corresponding to various deformations studied in the literature. In section 3 we discuss the link between R matrices and TsT transformations, naturally singling out a nonzero class of deformations that does not appear to be of TsT type. In section 4 we analyze the symmetries preserved by a given R matrix deformation.

⁷When considering $\mathfrak{gl}(4|4)$ R matrices, we need to consider the derivation of [9, 20] over $\mathfrak{gl}(4|4)$, not $\mathfrak{sl}(4|4)$, so that we can no longer drop the term in the (matrix valued) equations of motion that is proportional to the identity (see e.g. section 1.2.1 of [2]). This breaks the equivalence of the equations of motion to the flatness of the proposed Lax pair. We have also checked this explicitly for a U(2) R matrix deformation of the S² = SU(2)/U(1) sigma model. Furthermore, note the related fact that without a restriction to $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ the action loses its U(1) gauge symmetry $A \to A + d\theta 1$, which normally guarantees that the physical degrees of freedom live in $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$.

⁸By this we of course mean R matrices whose action is not restricted to $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$.

⁹This also matches the Killing spinor analysis of [29].

2 Real CYBE deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$

Confusion regarding the reality properties of the R matrices used in [20–26] appears to originate from the (nonstandard but perfectly valid) choice of basis for $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ used there. In fact, despite explicit claims to the contrary made in e.g. section 3.4 of [20] and section 2.2 of [24], all R matrices that result in real actions that have been considered in this context [20–25] preserve the real form $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$. Hence, the actions of these deformed models are manifestly real, including the fermions that have thus far not been investigated. For the readers' convenience, here we will explicitly give an $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ R matrix for each of the previously considered deformations in the (standard) conventions of [2]. For completeness we include the already manifestly real R matrix for the Lunin-Maldacena deformation. We discuss the basis of [20–26] in appendix B.

As reviewed in appendix A, in our conventions the bosonic algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ is spanned by the γ^j and $[\gamma^k, \gamma^l]$ for indices running from zero to four, while $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ is spanned by $i\gamma^j$ and $[\gamma^k, \gamma^l]$ for indices running from one through five. Note that real exponentials of generators give group elements. We denote the Cartan generators of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ by h_j where jruns from one to three, which we take to be

$$h_1 = \text{diag}(i, i, -i, -i), \quad h_2 = \text{diag}(i, -i, i, -i), \quad h_3 = \text{diag}(i, -i, -i, i).$$
 (2.1)

We will focus on the bosonic sector of the models, where we will work with the coset representative

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} g_a & 0\\ 0 & g_s \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.2}$$

with

$$g_a = e^{x_\mu p^\mu} e^{\frac{1}{2}\log z\gamma^4} = (1 + x_\mu p^\mu) e^{\frac{1}{2}\log z\gamma^4},$$
(2.3)

and

$$g_s = e^{\phi^i h_i} e^{-\frac{\xi}{2}\gamma^1 \gamma^3} e^{\frac{i}{2} \arcsin r\gamma^1}.$$
(2.4)

Here we have introduced the Poincaré translation generators

$$p^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} (\gamma^{\mu} - \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^4) \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2), \qquad (2.5)$$

which are nilpotent

$$p^{\mu}p^{\nu} = 0. \tag{2.6}$$

With these conventions the undeformed action is the string action of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ in Poincaré coordinates. We will also use the light cone coordinates

$$x^{\pm} = \frac{x^0 \pm x^3}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (2.7)

2.1 $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ R matrices

The Lunin-Maldacena background [5] for real β and its three parameter generalization by Frolov [6], can be found from the $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ R matrix [21]

$$r = -\epsilon^{ijk} \frac{\gamma_i}{8} h_j \wedge h_k, \tag{2.8}$$

the sum over i, j, and k, running from one to three here and elsewhere. The case $\gamma_1 = \pm \gamma_2 = \pm \gamma_3 = \beta$ corresponds to the Lunin-Maldacena background. It is perhaps interesting to note that we cannot enlarge the above R matrix over $\mathfrak{su}(4)$; any solution that contains eq. (2.8) for general γ_i is just eq. (2.8). Enlarging to $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ however, amongst others there is an analogous fifteen parameter solution based on its six Cartan generators.

The gravity dual of noncommutative SYM [30, 31] is obtained from the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ R matrix [22]

$$r = a^2 p^0 \wedge p^3 + {a'}^2 p^1 \wedge p^2, \tag{2.9}$$

where a and a' are the parameters used in [30]. Strictly speaking this R matrix gives the Lorentzian continuation of the Euclidean metric presented there in eq. (2.9), upon also analytically continuing a^2 , taking us out of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$. It is of course possible to generalize this R matrix to a six parameter R matrix based on the independent antisymmetric products of the p^{μ} .

Dipole type backgrounds see e.g. [32], arise from $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4)$ R matrices of the form [23]

$$r = \frac{1}{2}p^3 \wedge \alpha^i h_i. \tag{2.10}$$

Schrödinger geometries arise from $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4)$ solutions of the CYBE of the form

$$r = p_{-} \wedge f \tag{2.11}$$

where $f \in \mathfrak{su}(4)$. One solution that has been studied in particular is [23]

$$r = \frac{1}{2}p_{-} \wedge \eta^{i}h_{i}. \tag{2.12}$$

This gives a general class of backgrounds found in [33], see also [29, 34].¹⁰

Other generalized scaling geometries arise from the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ R matrix

$$r = \frac{1}{2}p_{-} \wedge (a(\gamma^4 + \gamma^0 \gamma^3) + b\gamma^1 \gamma^2).$$

$$(2.13)$$

The associated backgrounds are equivalent to the ones constructed in [25] with $a = c_1 + c_2$ and $b = i(c_1 - c_2)$. For a = 0 the resulting background corresponds to one originally found in appendix C.1 of [35]. Our R matrix is not quite equivalent to the one used in [25] however, as the R matrix of [25] contained a u(2, 2) generator and hence did not strictly

¹⁰The authors appear to present another independent R matrix in [23] (eq. (3.25) there), while it in fact appears to be exactly the same as the above R matrix (eq. (3.8) there). We hope to hereby avoid further confusion on this part.

speaking manifest integrability, see appendix C for details. For future reference, we would like to introduce the following generalization of (2.13)

$$r = \frac{1}{2}p_{-} \wedge (a\gamma^4 + b\gamma^1\gamma^2 + c\gamma^0\gamma^3), \qquad (2.14)$$

which is also a solution of the CYBE. We will come back to these models later.

Finally, a number of other solutions to the CYBE are briefly listed in [23].¹¹ We can directly translate them to our basis by following the discussion in appendix B.

Solving the CYBE. Constructively classifying the constant (antisymmetric) solutions of the CYBE over a given Lie (super)algebra is a complicated problem that to our knowledge has not been solved to date.¹² On the other hand, it is not hard to find various solutions to the CYBE (1.4). In fact, $r = a \wedge b$, where a and b are any two commuting algebra elements, is an obvious general class of solutions.¹³ All previously studied CYBE R matrices are of this type, with the exception of those in eqs. (2.13) and (2.14), making them particularly interesting. We will come back to this point below.

3 R matrices and (null) TsT transformations

The Lunin-Maldacena background, the background dual to noncommutative SYM, and also dipole type backgrounds, can all be obtained by TsT transformations, also known as Melvin twists, see e.g. [32]. Moreover, the required TsT transformations precisely involve the pairs of coordinates dual to the pairs of generators appearing in the above R matrices. Similarly, Schrödinger geometries are obtained by what is known as a null Melvin twist, which as the name suggests is nothing but the null generalization of a TsT transformation, and the R matrix picture is the same.¹⁴ Physically a null TsT transformation (null Melvin twist) consists of (infinite) boosts in addition to pure TsT transformations, but at the formal level a null TsT transformation is nothing but a regular TsT transformation where we shift by a null direction. Let us briefly elaborate on this.

3.1 Null TsT transformations

A null Melvin twist can be applied to a background that has a time translation isometry, a spatial translational isometry, and another rotational or translational isometry [35]. Let us call the associated coordinates t, y and z. The first step of a null Melvin twist is to (Lorentz) boost in the y direction. While in general the background need not have an SO(1, 1) isometry, in our cases it will. Under this boost

$$\begin{pmatrix} t \\ y \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \cosh \alpha & \sinh \alpha \\ -\sinh \alpha & \cosh \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t \\ y \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.1)

 $^{^{11}}$ Again, note that example 5 in section 3.3 is identical to the subject of section 3.2 there.

 $^{^{12}}$ See e.g. the introduction of [36] or §3.1.D of [37] for a discussion of what this would entail in terms of Lie algebra theory.

¹³We immediately have $[R(m), R(n)] \sim [a, b] = 0$, while the other terms are proportional to sTr(a[b, x]) or sTr(a[a, x]) with x = n or x = m, which both also clearly vanish.

¹⁴Note that as $g_{+-} \neq 0$, a TsT transformation with a shift in x^- (generated by p_-) results in a metric deformation of g_{++} .

After the boost we T dualize in y, shift the z field $z \to z + \beta \tilde{y}$ by the T dual field \tilde{y} , and T dualize back. We inversely boost y, and finally consider the infinite boost limit $\alpha \to \infty$, keeping βe^{α} fixed. Clearly in the infinite boost limit the y field involved in the intermediate steps scales as $y_{\text{int}} \simeq e^{\alpha}(-t+y)$ where t and y are the original t and y coordinates. Hence we see that in the limit we are considering, we are doing nothing but a TsT transformation where we shift z by the null direction x^- . In fact, as a TsT transformation involves two T dualities, formally a null TsT transformation is really just a TsT transformation where we shift by a null coordinate, and we do not need to strictly follow the above procedure. We refer to a (null) TsT transformation where we T dualize yand shift z as a TsT transformation in (y, z).

Since a TsT transformation is based on two commuting isometries, it is clear that we can associate a solution of the CYBE to any TsT transformation, which then should both produce the same deformation.¹⁵ The converse does not appear to be the case however, as already indicated by the results of [25].

3.2 Non TsT R matrices?

It is hard to directly relate an R matrix to a (null) TsT transformation when the associated building blocks do not commute, i.e. $r = c \wedge d$ with $[c, d] \neq 0$, since a TsT transformation is inherently associated to two independent (commuting) isometries. An example of this situation is given by the R matrix (2.13) with $a \neq 0$, since $[p_-, \gamma^4 + \gamma^0 \gamma^3] \neq 0$. Correspondingly it is apparently necessary to use S duality and TsT transformations that involve the sphere in addition to TsT transformations on AdS to reproduce the background [25].

In this light it is interesting to consider the generalized R matrix (2.14). For b = 0 the background is given by¹⁶

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-2z^{2}dx^{+}dx^{-} + a(a-c)z^{-2}(zdz + \rho d\rho)x^{+}dx^{+} - a^{2}(1+\rho^{2}z^{-2})(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4} - (a-c)^{2}(x^{+})^{2}} + \frac{d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2}d\psi^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}},$$

$$B = \frac{(a-c)x^{+}dx^{-} - a(\rho d\rho + zdz)}{z^{4} - (a-c)^{2}(x^{+})^{2}} \wedge dx^{+},$$
(3.2)

where we have used polar coordinates (ρ, ψ) in the (x_1, x_2) plane. This space has a (naked) curvature singularity at $z^2 = |a - c|x^+$, and we should consider the region $z^2 > |a - c|x^+$ to preserve the metric signature. The two terms making up the R matrix (2.14) only commute when c = -a. In line with this, we have verified that precisely in this case the above geometry also arises by a TsT transformation in (y, x^-) , where y is the coordinate associated with the boost-dilation (Schrödinger dilation) $x^+ \to e^{2\alpha}x^+$, $z \to e^{\alpha}z$, $\rho \to$

¹⁵It is possible to explicitly prove that $r = a \wedge b$ with [a, b] = 0, $\operatorname{sTr}(a^2) \neq 0$, and $\operatorname{sTr}(b^2) \neq 0$, results in a deformation of the (bosonic) background that is manifestly equivalent to a TsT transformation in (x_a, x_b) , where the x_c are the corresponding dual coordinates [38]. Note however that all above deformations with the exception of the Lunin-Maldacena one, involve the nilpotent p^{μ} .

¹⁶The background can be readily extracted out of the deformed action following e.g. [13] or [24]. We could have presented the associated background for $b \neq 0$, but its expression is rather large and uninsightful.

 $e^{\alpha}\rho$ generated by $\gamma^4 - \gamma^0\gamma^3$, thereby explicitly verifying that it is a (singular) solution of supergravity. For other values of c - a there should be no such interpretation, and presumably further duality transformations are required to reproduce the background. It would be interesting to verify that this background is a solution of supergravity in general, especially in light of the conjectures of [21, 26]. Note that for a = 0 the deformation looks remarkably elegant

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-2dx^{+}dx^{-}}{z^{2} - c^{2}z^{-2}(x^{+})^{2}} + \frac{d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2}d\psi^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}},$$

$$B = \frac{cx^{+}z^{-2}}{z^{2} - c^{2}z^{-2}(x^{+})^{2}}dx^{+} \wedge dx^{-},$$
(3.3)

but is of course still singular.

4 (Super)symmetry analysis

The undeformed $\operatorname{AdS}_5 \times \operatorname{S}^5$ superstring action has $\operatorname{PSU}(2,2|4)$ symmetry, realized as left multiplication of the coset representative g in the action (1.1) by a constant group element G, up to a compensating gauge symmetry $h \in \operatorname{SO}(4,1) \times \operatorname{SO}(5)$

$$Gg = g'h. \tag{4.1}$$

This gauge symmetry is preserved under the deformation, and we can ask which part of the global PSU(2, 2|4) symmetry is preserved. Given the construction of the deformed action, this is straightforwardly determined by R_g ; any transformation $g \to Gg$ that leaves R_g invariant represents an unbroken symmetry of the action. In other words, we want the set of G for which

$$R_G(x) = R(x). \tag{4.2}$$

Translating this statement to the algebra, we want to find the generators t for which

$$R([t,x]) = [t, R(x)].$$
(4.3)

Analyzing this equation for a particular R matrix gives the subalgebra of psu(2,2|4) that is preserved by a given deformation.

4.1 Lunin-Maldacena, noncommutative SYM, and dipole theories

By the above analysis we can readily verify that none of the 32 supercharges of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ are preserved by the R matrix (2.8) for the generic γ_i deformation, while for $\gamma_1 = \pm \gamma_2 = \pm \gamma_3 = \beta$ we find eight supercharges as appropriate for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal symmetry of β deformed SYM.¹⁷ Similarly, we can verify that when the rank of $\alpha^i h_i$ is three instead of four, the R matrix (2.10) preserves four supercharges, while it preserves eight if the rank is two, in agreement with the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ nonconformal supersymmetry of the dual theories [39]. For the dual of noncommutative SYM we find the sixteen supercharges appropriate for a nonconformal $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory [31].

¹⁷In this paper we always count real supercharges.

4.2 Schödinger spacetimes

Given the form of R matrix (2.12) the subalgebras of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ and $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ that satisfy eq. (4.3) are given by the centralizer of p_{-} and $\eta^{i}h_{i}$ respectively. Of course, the centralizer of p_{-} in $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ is precisely the Schrödinger algebra.¹⁸ For $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ the Cartan subalgebra remains. Now, according to the (more general) Killing spinor analysis of [34], our Schrödinger backgrounds of the form $Schr_5 \times S^5$ should preserve two Poincaré supercharges when $\eta^1 \pm \eta^2 \pm \eta^3 = 0$, and four Poincaré supercharges when in addition one of the η^i vanishes. However, it was subsequently shown [29] that on special subclasses of solutions which include our backgrounds, the number of supercharges gets enhanced to six, or even twelve. Now our analysis indicates that when the rank of $\eta^i h_i$ is three (i.e. $\eta^1 \pm \eta^2 \pm \eta^3 = 0$), six of the 32 supercharges survive, while if the rank is two (i.e. additionally one of the η^i vanishes) we get twelve. These six and twelve are split as 2 + (2+2)and 4 + (4 + 4) respectively, where the additional four respectively eight supercharges we find with respect to [34] are precisely the extra two respectively four Poincaré plus two respectively four conformal supercharges of [29]. It is also easy to check that these extra conformal supercharges are obtained from the extra Poincaré supercharges by the action of the special conformal transformation of the Schrödinger algebra [29].

In fact, these superalgebras are closely related to those found in [28]. According to [28], the Schrödinger subalgebras of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal subalgebras of $\mathfrak{psu}(2, 2|4)$, give superalgebras with twelve supercharges and $\mathfrak{su}(2)^{\oplus 2} \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1) \subset \mathfrak{su}(4)$ R symmetry, and six supercharges and $\mathfrak{u}(1)^{\oplus 3}$ R symmetry respectively. The superalgebra with six supercharges that we are dealing with here is precisely this latter one, $\mathfrak{u}(1)^{\oplus 3}$ being the centralizer of $\eta^i h_i$ in $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ also when $\eta^i h_i$ has rank three. When $\eta^i h_i$ has rank two on the other hand, our superalgebra with twelve supercharges contains $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)^{\oplus 2}$ in addition to the Schrödinger algebra, instead of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)^{\oplus 2} \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)$ R symmetry of [28]. However, looking more closely at the projectors used in [28] to derive the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ subalgebra, it is clear that one of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebras actually acts trivially on the supercharges,¹⁹ and we would reinterpret their twelve supercharge Schrödinger superalgebra as the direct sum of a superalgebra with R symmetry $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1) = \mathfrak{u}(2)$ and a separate $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ factor. Here we simply have this minimal Schrödinger superalgebra extended by a central $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ instead of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. Similar statements of course apply to the $\mathfrak{u}(1)^{\oplus 3}$ of the six supercharge superalgebra, where the minimal superalgebra in fact has only $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ R symmetry,²⁰ and it is not hard to check that the six supercharges we find from eq. (4.3) are indeed charged under only one independent linear combination of our Cartan generators. We believe this answers

 $^{^{18}}$ This is easy to see using the results of [40]. The Schrödinger algebra can be found there.

¹⁹In the notation of [28] the generators of the $\mathfrak{so}(4) = \mathfrak{su}(2)^{\oplus 2}$ are realized via (products of) γ matrices as $\Gamma^{a'b'}$ with indices running from 5 to 8, acting on supercharges from the right. Now their $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supercharges satisfy $\tilde{Q} = \tilde{Q}\Gamma^{5678}$ and $\tilde{S} = \tilde{S}\Gamma^{5678}$, meaning that the action of any $\Gamma^{a'b'}$ is equal or opposite to the action of $\Gamma^{c'd'}$, where c' and d' are the elements of $\{5, 6, 7, 8\}$ complementary to a' and b'. Now $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ can be decomposed as $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)$ precisely via such linear combinations of complementary pairs of $\Gamma^{a'b'}$, and we can easily check that one of the two $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ s then acts trivially on the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supercharges.

 $^{^{20}}$ In [28] all fermions have the same charge under each of the three $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ s, hence we can decouple two (linear combinations) of the $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ s.

the question raised in [23] regarding the relation between R matrices and Schrödinger superalgebras.

4.3 Generalized scaling spacetimes

Repeating our analysis for the background (3.2), we find that it preserves eight supercharges for a = -c, sixteen for a = c, and none otherwise.²¹ These eight resp. sixteen supercharges form one resp. two fundamental representations of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$, which itself is untouched. Taking $b \neq 0$ breaks all supersymmetry regardless of the values of a and c. Regarding the remaining bosonic symmetries, note that these geometries do not have full Schrödinger symmetry for nonzero a or c, generically only preserving null translations, rotations in the (x1, x2)plane, and the Schrödinger dilation mentioned earlier, as can also be easily seen from the background.

5 Conclusions

We hope to have clarified the reality and manifest integrability properties of various R matrices used to construct integrable deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring, aspects of the (lack of a) link between R matrices and TsT transformations, as well as the symmetries of our R matrix deformed models. We believe that one of the most interesting remaining open questions is the classification of solutions to the classical Yang-Baxter equation, which may not be entirely out of reach for the specific case of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ and its lower dimensional analogues. For example, the CYBE has a two parameter family of solutions over $\mathfrak{su}(1,1)$ and no solution over $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. This two parameter $\mathfrak{su}(1,1)$ R matrix is of the form $r \sim a\sigma_1 \wedge \sigma_2 + a\cos\theta(i\sigma_3) \wedge \sigma_1 + a\sin\theta(i\sigma_3) \wedge \sigma_2$. Of course we are only really interested in R matrices up to global transformations. In this case we can change θ by an $\mathfrak{su}(1,1)$ transformation (a time translation in the coordinates below), and we might as well set it to zero. Unfortunately this R matrix does not appear to yield a very pleasant deformation of AdS₂, giving a metric dependent on global time t^{22}

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 - a^{2} \left(2\rho^{2} + (1 + 2\cos(2t))(1 + \rho^{2}) - 4\rho\sqrt{1 + \rho^{2}}\cos t\right)\right)^{-1} ds^{2}_{\mathrm{AdS}_{2}},$$

preserving none of the SU(1, 1) symmetry of AdS₂. In Poincaré coordinates this metric depends on time as well. Of course, many of the nice deformations we considered in the previous sections were simpler, based on commuting elements, inherently requiring higher rank algebras. A related interesting direction would be to investigate and if possible prove the equivalence of R matrices built on commuting elements to (null) TsT transformations. Even more relevant is the question whether any solution of the CYBE corresponds to a string background as conjectured in [21, 26], and if so, what the link is between an R matrix built out of noncommuting elements, and e.g. S duality in addition to TsT transformations.²³ One way to gain further insight here would be to investigate the supergravity

 $^{^{21}}$ Strictly speaking, we are finding supersymmetries of the string sigma model that do not always have to arise from supersymmetries of the supergravity background, see e.g. [16, 18, 41, 42].

 $^{^{22}\}mathrm{We}$ work with the coordinates of e.g. [13].

 $^{^{23}\}mathrm{S}$ duality does not generically preserve integrability.

embedding of the generalized background (3.2), and others of its kind. It might also be interesting to investigate R matrices involving the fermionic generators of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$; thus far only one such solution has been given but not further investigated [20].²⁴

Finally, many of the powerful tools associated with the integrability of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring [3], arise in the so-called exact S matrix approach [2]. This approach relies on the 'BMN' light cone gauge that requires isometries in global AdS time and one of the angles on the sphere. Correspondingly, while tools such as the thermodynamic Bethe ansatz can be extended from $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [43–46] to quantum deformations [15, 47, 48],²⁵ it is not immediately clear whether this can be done for most of the deformations described here. All deformations here, with the exception of the Lunin-Maldacena-Frolov deformation,²⁶ are naturally suited to AdS in Poincaré coordinates, and result in a metric with time dependence in (naive) global coordinates. It would be great to understand whether we can extend the exact S matrix approach to e.g. the dual of noncommutative SYM or Schrödinger spacetimes.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank N. Bobev, B. Hoare, T. Matsumoto, and K. Yoshida for discussions, and G. Arutyunov, B. Hoare, T. Matsumoto, and K. Yoshida for comments on the paper. ST is supported by LT. This work was supported by the Einstein Foundation Berlin in the framework of the research project "Gravitation and High Energy Physics", and acknowledges further support from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013/ under REA Grant Agreement No 317089 (GATIS).

A Algebra conventions

In this paper we are mainly concerned with the bosonic subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(4)$ of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$. For details on the material presented here, as well as its supersymmetric extension, we refer to the pedagogical review [2]. We will only briefly list the facts we need, beginning with the γ matrices

$$\gamma^{0} = i\sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{0}, \quad \gamma^{1} = \sigma_{2} \otimes \sigma_{2}, \quad \gamma^{2} = -\sigma_{2} \otimes \sigma_{1}, \gamma^{3} = \sigma_{1} \otimes \sigma_{0}, \quad \gamma^{4} = \sigma_{2} \otimes \sigma_{3}, \quad \gamma^{5} = -i\gamma^{0},$$
(A.1)

where $\sigma_0 = 1_{2\times 2}$ and the remaining σ_i are the Pauli matrices. With these matrices the generators of $\mathfrak{so}(4,1)$ in the spinor representation are given by $n^{ij} = \frac{1}{4}[\gamma^i, \gamma^j]$ where the

 $^{^{24}}$ The parts of an R matrix that involve fermionic generators by default do not deform the bosonic background, and presumably correspond to turning on fermions in the background. The physical interpretation in particular of R matrices that mix bosonic and fermionic generators would be quite peculiar.

 $^{^{25}}$ See [13, 49, 50] for the quantum deformed exact S matrix this is built upon.

²⁶The thermodynamic Bethe ansatz can indeed be extended to this case [51–53], see also [8]. Interestingly, note also that there is a clear link between the R matrix (2.8) and the twist of the twisted exact S matrix picture of [54], which presumably extends beyond this case provided the form of the twist is compatible with the exact S matrix.

indices run from zero to four, while for $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ we can give the same construction with indices running from one to five. The algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ is spanned by these generators of $\mathfrak{so}(4,1)$ together with the γ^i for $i = 0, \ldots, 4$, while $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ is spanned by the combination of $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ and $i\gamma^j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, 5$. Concretely, these generators satisfy

$$m^{\dagger}\gamma^5 + \gamma^5 m = 0 \tag{A.2}$$

for $m \in \mathfrak{su}(2,2)$, and

$$n^{\dagger} + n = 0 \tag{A.3}$$

for $n \in \mathfrak{su}(4)$. This means that we are dealing with the canonical group metric $\gamma^5 = \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, -1)$ for SU(2, 2), and $e^{\alpha n}$ and $e^{\alpha m}$ give group elements for real α .

The generator Ω of the \mathbb{Z}_4 automorphism of $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ acts on these bosonic subalgebras as

$$\Omega(m) = -Km^t K,\tag{A.4}$$

where $K = -\gamma^2 \gamma^4$, which leaves the subalgebras $\mathfrak{so}(4,1)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ invariant.

B A different basis

The conventions of [20-26] are based on γ matrices introduced there as²⁷

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\gamma}^0 &= i\sigma_2 \otimes \sigma_3, \quad \tilde{\gamma}^1 = \sigma_2 \otimes \sigma_2, \qquad \tilde{\gamma}^2 = -\sigma_2 \otimes \sigma_1, \\ \tilde{\gamma}^3 &= \sigma_1 \otimes \sigma_0, \quad \tilde{\gamma}^5 = i\tilde{\gamma}_1 \tilde{\gamma}_2 \tilde{\gamma}_3 \tilde{\gamma}_0, \quad \tilde{\gamma}^4 = -i\tilde{\gamma}^0. \end{split}$$
(B.1)

 $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ is then defined by imposing the reality condition

$$\tilde{n}^{\dagger}\tilde{\gamma}^{0} + \tilde{\gamma}^{0}\tilde{n} = 0, \tag{B.2}$$

on elements of $\mathfrak{sl}(4)$ [23]. With this definition, $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ is spanned by $\{\tilde{\gamma}^j, \frac{1}{4}[\tilde{\gamma}^k, \tilde{\gamma}^l]\}$, where indices run over 0, 1, 2, 3, and 5. Since the eigenvalues of $\tilde{\gamma}^0$ are $\pm i$, strictly speaking we should define not $\tilde{\gamma}^0$ but e.g. $\tilde{\gamma}^4$ as the group metric, but otherwise this is a perfectly valid choice of basis. Real exponentials of algebra elements again give group elements. Note however that the 'Cartan generators' introduced in e.g. appendix A of [23], are not all elements of $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$; \tilde{h}_1 there does not respect the real form, being defined as $\tilde{h}_1 \equiv i\tilde{\gamma}^1\tilde{\gamma}^2$.

Also here we can use the $\tilde{\gamma}$ matrices to provide a basis for $\mathfrak{su}(4)$, now given by the $i\tilde{\gamma}^{j}$ and $\frac{1}{4}[\tilde{\gamma}^{k}, \tilde{\gamma}^{l}]$ for indices running from one through five.²⁸

Of course it is possible to relate the basis described in this section to the one of [2] by a GL(16) transformation. In fact, $\tilde{\gamma}^i = \gamma^i$ for i = 1, 2, 3, and all we need to do is identify $\tilde{\gamma}^4 = \gamma^5$, in line with the above discussion of the group metric. Note that $\tilde{\gamma}^4 \to \gamma^5$ cannot be achieved by a GL(4) transformation on the matrices themselves, if we wish to preserve the remaining γ^i .

 $^{^{27}}$ As these conventions differ from the above, the statement in appendix A of [24] that they basically follow [2] is somewhat confusing.

²⁸There appears to be a typographical error in [23] where it is stated that $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ is given by the real span of the $\tilde{\gamma}^{j}$ and $\frac{1}{4}[\tilde{\gamma}^{k}, \tilde{\gamma}^{l}]$; $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ reality requires an *i* on the $\tilde{\gamma}$ s.

C An example R matrix

Our prototypical example of a Jordanian R matrix²⁹ written in the above nonstandard basis will be

$$r = e_{24} \wedge (c_1 e_{22} - c_2 e_{44}) \tag{C.1}$$

as considered in [25] and for $c_1 = c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ in [24]. Here the e_{ij} denote the matrix unities, with a one in row *i*, column *j*. In [20] it is explicitly stated that Jordanian R matrices do not preserve the real form $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$. This was repeated in [24] for this particular R matrix, while noting that in the case $c_1 = c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ it nevertheless results in a real action. However, provided $c_2^* = c_1$, the above R matrix clearly is built out of generators that satisfy the reality condition (B.2), and therefore it does preserve the real form $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$. This explains the observation of [25] that $c_1 = c_2^*$ is a sufficient condition for reality of the action.

Still, $c_1e_{22} - c_2e_{44}$ can have nonzero trace, meaning (C.1) is generically a $\mathfrak{u}(2,2)$ R matrix, obscuring its status with regard to integrability. Still, we claim to reproduce the same background via the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$ R matrix (2.13). To explain this, we need to discuss the inversion of the operator $1 - R_g \circ d$ in the action. By construction, the domain of the inverse operator is $(\mathfrak{p})\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$, and by the supertrace only the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ projection of its range appears in the action. Hence, the only place where one can distinguish between a $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$ and an $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ R matrix, is in the space over which we invert $1 - R_g \circ d$. As the projection of a $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$ R matrix onto $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ is also a solution of the CYBE over $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$, we can (attempt to) invert such an R matrix over both $\mathfrak{u}(2,2|4)$ and $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$. The outcome will generically be different however; consider for example the (1,1) entry of

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & r \\ -r & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1}$$
(C.2)

and compare it to 1^{-1} . Now, if we invert the R matrix over $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$, no $\mathfrak{u}(2, 2|4)$ aspect of the R matrix ever enters the problem, and we should simply consider the projection of the R matrix onto $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$ as our R matrix. Of course, were we to invert over $\mathfrak{u}(2, 2|4)$, we would generically find problems in the matching of the Lax pair construction with the equations of motion. It is easy to check this explicitly for the S² sigma model.³⁰ Going over the derivation in [24, 25] we see that they in fact invert over $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$, so that they are really using an $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$ R matrix disguised as a $\mathfrak{u}(2, 2|4)$ one. Our R matrix (2.13) is the $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$ projection of this R matrix translated to our basis.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

²⁹Jordanian R matrices are antisymmetric solutions of the CYBE that are nilpotent; $R^k(m) = 0$ for $k \ge 3$.

³⁰The CYBE has no solutions over $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, but it has one over $\mathfrak{u}(2)$. As it currently stands then, the q-deformation of [55] based on the modified CYBE is the unique real and manifestly integrable deformation of the S^2 sigma model in this (R matrix) setting.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The Large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, Foundations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Superstring. Part I, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 254003 [arXiv:0901.4937] [INSPIRE].
- [3] N. Beisert, C. Ahn, L.F. Alday, Z. Bajnok, J.M. Drummond et al., Review of AdS/CFT Integrability: An Overview, Lett. Math. Phys. 99 (2012) 3 [arXiv:1012.3982] [INSPIRE].
- [4] I. Bena, J. Polchinski and R. Roiban, Hidden symmetries of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 046002 [hep-th/0305116] [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Lunin and J.M. Maldacena, Deforming field theories with $U(1) \times U(1)$ global symmetry and their gravity duals, JHEP 05 (2005) 033 [hep-th/0502086] [INSPIRE].
- S. Frolov, Lax pair for strings in Lunin-Maldacena background, JHEP 05 (2005) 069 [hep-th/0503201] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L.F. Alday, G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, Green-Schwarz strings in TsT-transformed backgrounds, JHEP 06 (2006) 018 [hep-th/0512253] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S.J. van Tongeren, Integrability of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring and its deformations, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 433001 [arXiv:1310.4854] [INSPIRE].
- [9] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, An integrable deformation of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring action, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112** (2014) 051601 [arXiv:1309.5850] [INSPIRE].
- [10] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, Derivation of the action and symmetries of the q-deformed $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring, JHEP 10 (2014) 132 [arXiv:1406.6286] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Klimčík, Yang-Baxter σ -models and dS/AdS T duality, JHEP **12** (2002) 051 [hep-th/0210095] [INSPIRE].
- [12] C. Klimčík, On integrability of the Yang-Baxter σ -model, J. Math. Phys. **50** (2009) 043508 [arXiv:0802.3518] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G. Arutyunov, R. Borsato and S. Frolov, *S*-matrix for strings on η -deformed $AdS_5 \times S^5$, JHEP 04 (2014) 002 [arXiv:1312.3542] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Hoare, R. Roiban and A.A. Tseytlin, On deformations of $AdS_n \times S^n$ supercosets, JHEP 06 (2014) 002 [arXiv:1403.5517] [INSPIRE].
- [15] G. Arutyunov, M. de Leeuw and S.J. van Tongeren, The exact spectrum and mirror duality of the $(AdS_5 \times S^5)_{\eta}$ superstring, Theor. Math. Phys. **182** (2015) 23 [arXiv:1403.6104] [INSPIRE].
- [16] G. Arutyunov and S.J. van Tongeren, $AdS_5 \times S^5$ mirror model as a string σ -model, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113** (2014) 261605 [arXiv:1406.2304] [INSPIRE].
- [17] T. Kameyama and K. Yoshida, A new coordinate system for q-deformed $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and classical string solutions, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 075401 [arXiv:1408.2189] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G. Arutyunov and S.J. van Tongeren, Double Wick rotating Green-Schwarz strings, JHEP 05 (2015) 027 [arXiv:1412.5137] [INSPIRE].
- [19] O. Lunin, R. Roiban and A.A. Tseytlin, Supergravity backgrounds for deformations of $AdS_n \times S^n$ supercoset string models, Nucl. Phys. B 891 (2015) 106 [arXiv:1411.1066] [INSPIRE].

- [20] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Jordanian deformations of the AdS₅xS⁵ superstring, JHEP 04 (2014) 153 [arXiv:1401.4855] [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Lunin-Maldacena backgrounds from the classical Yang-Baxter equation towards the gravity/CYBE correspondence, JHEP 06 (2014) 135
 [arXiv:1404.1838] [INSPIRE].
- [22] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Integrability of classical strings dual for noncommutative gauge theories, JHEP 06 (2014) 163 [arXiv:1404.3657] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Schrödinger geometries arising from Yang-Baxter deformations, JHEP 04 (2015) 180 [arXiv:1502.00740] [INSPIRE].
- [24] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, A Jordanian deformation of AdS space in type IIB supergravity, JHEP 06 (2014) 146 [arXiv:1402.6147] [INSPIRE].
- [25] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Yang-Baxter deformations and string dualities, JHEP 03 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1412.3658] [INSPIRE].
- [26] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Integrable deformations of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring and the classical Yang-Baxter equation –Towards the gravity/CYBE correspondence-, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 563 (2014) 012020 [arXiv:1410.0575] [INSPIRE].
- [27] R.R. Metsaev and A.A. Tseytlin, Type IIB superstring action in AdS₅ × S⁵ background, Nucl. Phys. B 533 (1998) 109 [hep-th/9805028] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, More super Schrödinger algebras from PSU(2,2|4), JHEP 08 (2008) 049 [arXiv:0806.3612] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Donos and J.P. Gauntlett, Schrödinger invariant solutions of type IIB with enhanced supersymmetry, JHEP 10 (2009) 073 [arXiv:0907.1761] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.M. Maldacena and J.G. Russo, Large-N limit of noncommutative gauge theories, JHEP 09 (1999) 025 [hep-th/9908134] [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Hashimoto and N. Itzhaki, Noncommutative Yang-Mills and the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 465 (1999) 142 [hep-th/9907166] [INSPIRE].
- [32] E. Imeroni, On deformed gauge theories and their string/M-theory duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 026 [arXiv:0808.1271] [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Bobev and A. Kundu, Deformations of Holographic Duals to Non-Relativistic CFTs, JHEP 07 (2009) 098 [arXiv:0904.2873] [INSPIRE].
- [34] N. Bobev, A. Kundu and K. Pilch, Supersymmetric IIB Solutions with Schrödinger Symmetry, JHEP 07 (2009) 107 [arXiv:0905.0673] [INSPIRE].
- [35] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and S.F. Ross, Causal structures and holography, JHEP 07 (2005) 037 [hep-th/0504034] [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Gerstenhaber and A. Giaquinto, Boundary solutions of the classical yang-baxter equation, Lett. Math. Phys. 40 (1997) 337 [arXiv:q-alg/9609014].
- [37] V. Chari and A. Pressley, A Guide To Quantum Groups, Cambridge, U.K.: Univ. Press, 1994.
- [38] B. Hoare, private communication.
- [39] A. Bergman, K. Dasgupta, O.J. Ganor, J.L. Karczmarek and G. Rajesh, Nonlocal field theories and their gravity duals, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 066005 [hep-th/0103090] [INSPIRE].

- [40] M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, Super Schroedinger algebra in AdS/CFT, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008) 102302 [arXiv:0805.2661] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.J. Duff, H. Lü and C.N. Pope, Supersymmetry without supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B 409 (1997) 136 [hep-th/9704186] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M.J. Duff, H. Lü and C.N. Pope, AdS₅ × S⁵ untwisted, Nucl. Phys. B 532 (1998) 181
 [hep-th/9803061] [INSPIRE].
- [43] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, String hypothesis for the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ mirror, JHEP 03 (2009) 152 [arXiv:0901.1417] [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz for the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Mirror Model, JHEP 05 (2009) 068 [arXiv:0903.0141] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Bombardelli, D. Fioravanti and R. Tateo, Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz for planar AdS/CFT: A Proposal, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 375401 [arXiv:0902.3930] [INSPIRE].
- [46] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, A. Kozak and P. Vieira, Exact Spectrum of Anomalous Dimensions of Planar N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory: TBA and excited states, Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 265 [arXiv:0902.4458] [INSPIRE].
- [47] G. Arutyunov, M. de Leeuw and S.J. van Tongeren, The Quantum Deformed Mirror TBA I, JHEP 10 (2012) 090 [arXiv:1208.3478] [INSPIRE].
- [48] G. Arutyunov, M. de Leeuw and S.J. van Tongeren, The Quantum Deformed Mirror TBA II, JHEP 02 (2013) 012 [arXiv:1210.8185] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Beisert and P. Koroteev, Quantum Deformations of the One-Dimensional Hubbard Model, J. Phys. A 41 (2008) 255204 [arXiv:0802.0777] [INSPIRE].
- [50] B. Hoare, T.J. Hollowood and J.L. Miramontes, *q-Deformation of the* $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Superstring S-matrix and its Relativistic Limit, JHEP **03** (2012) 015 [arXiv:1112.4485] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G. Arutyunov, M. de Leeuw and S.J. van Tongeren, Twisting the Mirror TBA, JHEP 02 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1009.4118] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C. Ahn, Z. Bajnok, D. Bombardelli and R.I. Nepomechie, TBA, NLO Lüscher correction and double wrapping in twisted AdS/CFT, JHEP 12 (2011) 059 [arXiv:1108.4914] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. de Leeuw and S.J. van Tongeren, The spectral problem for strings on twisted $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Nucl. Phys. **B 860** (2012) 339 [arXiv:1201.1451] [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Ahn, Z. Bajnok, D. Bombardelli and R.I. Nepomechie, Twisted Bethe equations from a twisted S-matrix, JHEP 02 (2011) 027 [arXiv:1010.3229] [INSPIRE].
- [55] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, On classical q-deformations of integrable σ -models, JHEP 11 (2013) 192 [arXiv:1308.3581] [INSPIRE].